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YANGARRA RESOURCES LTD.
Message to Shareholders

In 2012, Yangarra has continued to focus on value creation, while constraining capital expenditures to
maintain a strong balance sheet. Significant improvements in capital efficiencies have been achieved by
lowering drilling and completion costs. The Company has an inventory of 5 years of Cardium and
Glauconite drilling; offering a 50% internal rate of return; its Duvernay land position is one of the most
levered in the industry on a per share basis.
Value Creation
Yangarra has focused on creating value for our shareholders this is evidenced by the following metrics:
• 60% production growth (52% on a per share basis)
• 44% increase in reserves (38% on a per share basis)
• F&D costs, excluding future capital, of $8.22/boe proved and $4.44/boe proved and probable
• Net Asset Value (not including land) of $1.08/share
Maximizing Netbacks
Yangarra continues to deliver top decile netbacks after adjusting for product split when compared to our
peer group:
• Operating costs of $7.65/boe
• G&A of $2.52/boe
• Royalty income higher than royalty expense
Maintaining a Strong Balance Sheet
We remained disciplined in capital spending to ensure the balance sheet remains strong in these
challenging economic times:
• $20 million of net capital spending in 2012
• A $2 million increase in net debt from 2011
Improved Capital Efficiency and Lower Capital Costs
During the summer months of 2012 we focused on methods to reduce drilling, completion and operating
costs. Mono-bore drilling techniques introduced by new drilling and completions manager have reduced
drilling times by half while better logistics and a more competitive fracture environment resulted in much
lower completion costs. Commencing in September, Yangarra has used mono-bore drilling and samples
of wells in three different producing horizons show the improvements in drilling efficiency:

Zone
Cardium
Second White Specks
Glauconite

Spud to rig
release
12.3 days
11.1 days
9.8 days

Yangarra’s previous best
spud to rig release
25 days
29 days
20 days

We have announced a $25 million capital spending program for 2013. This program includes the drilling
of 16 gross (12 net) wells focused in Central Alberta. The budget will focus on oil targets which will
allow us to increase our oil weighting and ultimately our cash flow. The cash flow is forecasted at $24
million or $0.20/share, which is only slightly below our current trading price.
Significant Unrecognized Upside
We believe the upside potential in the Yangarra story is better than it has ever been. The company has
identified 5 years of drilling inventory in the Cardium and Glauconite alone and a significant amount of
additional locations in the Second White Specks, Viking and Rock Creek which leaves Yangarra well
positioned with multiple years of drilling inventory. The Duvernay resource is turning into a world-class
play and Yangarra has assembled a high quality land position. We are leading edge in unlocking the
significant value in the Second White Specks shale oil play.

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Management's discussion and analysis
December 31, 2012
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Management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of the financial condition and the results of operations
should be read in conjunction with the December 31, 2012 audited consolidated financial statements,
together with the accompanying notes.
Additional information about Yangarra filed with Canadian securities commissions is available on-line at
www.sedar.com.
The MD&A has been prepared using information that is current to March 27, 2013.
The financial information presented herein has been prepared on the basis of International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Throughout
this discussion, percentage changes are calculated using numbers rounded to the decimal to which they
appear. All references to dollar amounts are in Canadian dollars.
BOE Presentation – Production information is commonly reported in units of barrel of oil equivalent
("boe"). For purposes of computing such units, natural gas is converted to equivalent barrels of oil using
a conversion factor of six thousand cubic feet to one barrel of oil. This conversion ratio of 6:1 is based
on an energy equivalent wellhead value for the individual products. Such disclosure of boe may be
misleading, particularly if used in isolation. Readers should be aware that historical results are not
necessarily indicative of future performance.
Special Note Regarding Non-IFRS Measures This MD&A contains the terms “funds flow from (used in)
operations” and “funds flow from (used in) operations per share”, which should not be considered an
alternative to or more meaningful than cash from (used in) operating activities as determined in accordance
with IFRS. These terms do not have any standardized meaning as prescribed by IFRS. Yangarra’s
determination of funds flow from (used in) operations and funds flow from (used in) operations per share
may not be comparable to that reported by other companies. Management uses funds flow from (used in)
operations to analyze operating performance and leverage, and considers funds flow from (used in)
operations to be a key measure as it demonstrates the Company’s ability to generate cash necessary to fund
future capital investments and to repay debt, if applicable. Funds flow from (used in) operations is
calculated using cash from (used in) operating activities as presented in the statement of cash flows before
changes in non-cash working capital. Yangarra presents funds flow from (used in) operations per share
whereby per share amounts are calculated using weighted average shares outstanding consistent with the
calculation of earnings per share.
The following table reconciles funds flow from (used in) operations to cash from (used in) operating
activities, which is the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with IFRS:
2012
Cash from operating activities
Changes in non-cash working capital
Funds flow from operations

2011

$ 17,016,431 $ 6,664,849
(2,428,026)
9,676,331
$ 14,588,405 $ 16,341,180

The Company considers corporate netbacks to be a key measure as they demonstrate Yangarra’s
profitability relative to current commodity prices. Corporate netbacks are comprised of operating, funds
flow and net loss netbacks. Operating netback is calculated as the average sales price of its commodities
and then subtracts royalties, operating costs and transportation expenses. Funds flow netback starts with
the operating netback and further deducts general and administrative costs, finance expense and adds
finance income as well as realized gains on financial instruments. To calculate the net income (loss)
netback, Yangarra takes the funds flow netback and deducts share-based compensation expense as well as
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depletion and depreciation charges, accretion expense, unrealized gains on financial instruments, any
impairment or exploration and evaluation expense and deferred income taxes. There is no IFRS measure
that is reasonably comparable to netbacks.
Net debt and working capital (deficit), which represent current assets less current liabilities, excluding
current derivative financial instruments, are used to assess efficiency, liquidity and the general financial
strength of the Company. There is no IFRS measure that is reasonably comparable to net debt or working
capital (deficit).
Forward-looking Statements – Certain information regarding the Company set forth in this report,
including management's assessment of the Company's future plans and operations, contain forward-looking
statements that involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties. These risks and
uncertainties, many of which are beyond the Company's control, include the impact of general economic
conditions and specific industry conditions, volatility of commodity prices, currency fluctuations,
imprecision of reserve estimates, environmental risks, competition from other producers, the lack of
available qualified personnel or management, stock market volatility and ability to access sufficient capital
from internal and external sources. The Company's actual results, performance or achievements could
differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements, and accordingly,
no assurance can be given that any events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or
occur, or if any of them do, what benefits the Company can derive from such events.
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Overview
Yangarra is a junior oil and gas company engaged in the exploration, development and production of
natural gas and oil with operations in Western Canada, with a main focus on Central Alberta, where the
Company has extensive infrastructure and land holdings.
Yangarra is dedicated to creating value for its shareholders through its commitment to a clear business
strategy and performance objectives. The Company's strategy is to increase the value of its corporate
assets through the drill bit and by assembling a large focused land base in Central Alberta that features
high-quality, long-life light oil and liquids-rich gas reserves. The Company has assembled a significant
future drilling inventory and will strive to grow this inventory through drilling, geology and strategic
acquisitions.

2012 Significant Events
During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Company completed the following significant milestones:
•

Average daily production was 1,914 boe/d a 59% increase from 2011.

•

Oil and gas sales for the year were $21 million a 6% increase from 2011, with cash flow from
operations of $15 million ($0.12 per share - basic).

•

Operating costs, including $0.84/boe of transportation costs, were $7.65/boe.

•

Operating netback of $25.48 per boe, was a 38% decrease from the $41.05 per boe reported in
2011.

•

Net Capital expenditures were $20 million for 2012.

•

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a bank debt and working capital deficit of $36
million ($33 million including mark to market on commodity contracts) compared to $34 million
at December 31, 2011.

Operations Update
Since resuming the drilling program in September 2012, the Company has drilled 9 gross (6.2 net) oil
wells. Yangarra has changed the drilling program with the adoption of mono-bore drilling and increased
use of multi-well pads, effectively cutting drilling times by 50%.
The Company expects to complete construction of the new compressor facility at Ferrier in the second
quarter of 2013. All Yangarra operated wells in the Ferrier area, including five standing wells, will be
tied into the new facility flowing into Keyera’s deep cut Strachan plant.
The $25 million 2013 capital budget will focus on development of Yangarra’s Cardium light oil play with
a four year inventory identified. The capital spending is expected to increase the Company’s annual
production by 25% to 2,400 boe/d with cash from operations estimated at $24 million ($0.20/share) and a
2013 debt to cash flow ratio of 1.5. The budget assumes an average price of US$85/bbl of WTI crude oil
and an average price of $3.00/mcf of AECO natural gas.
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Annual Financial Information
2012

2011

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Petroleum & natural gas sales - Gross
Net income (loss) for the year (before tax)

$ 21,327,157
$
21,174

$ 20,742,259
$ 4,872,697

Net income (loss) for the year
Net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted

$
$

Statements of Cash Flow
Funds flow from (used in) operating activities
Funds flow from (used in) operating activities per share - basic and diluted
Cash from (used in) operating activities
Statements of Financial Position
Property and equipment
Total assets
Working Capital (deficit), excluding MTM on commodity contracts and
flow-through share obligation
Non-Current Financial Liabilities
Shareholders equity
Weighted average number of shares - basic
Weighted average number of shares diluted

2010
$
$

6,534,377
(2,599,497)

1,385,698
0.01

$
$

(1,745,150)
(0.03)

$ 14,588,405
$
0.12
$ 17,016,431

$ 16,341,180
$
0.15
$ 6,664,849

$
$
$

2,959,286
0.05
95,378

$ 121,842,378
$ 138,894,114

$ 119,374,219
$ 141,291,043

$
$

63,263,452
68,373,813

(217,712) $
(0.00) $

$ (36,301,842) $ (34,028,162) $ (11,472,461)
$ (12,274,710) $ (9,752,766) $ (3,501,805)
$ (79,689,765) $ (76,627,244) $ (47,835,896)
120,663,095
120,663,095

105,960,324
113,781,122

57,581,832
57,581,832

Business Environment
2012
West Texas Intermediate ("WTI") (US$/bbl)
Edmonton (C$/bbl)
AECO gas (Cdn$/GJ)
U.S./Canadian Dollar Exchange

$
$
$

94.21
87.02
2.18
1.000

2011
$
$
$

95.11
95.03
3.49
1.012

Crude oil prices remained relatively flat during 2012, with the West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”)
reference price averaging US$94.21/bbl compared with US$95.11 per barrel in 2011. Demand for crude
oil is generally tied to global economic growth, but is also influenced by factors such as infrastructure,
political instability, market uncertainty, weather conditions and government regulations.
Edmonton par differentials to WTI increased significantly during 2012 moving from a $0.08/bbl
differential in 2011 to $7.19/bbl in 2012. The closest reference price point for Yangarra’s oil is
Edmonton par and therefore the widening differential has had a significant impact on the Company
realized pricing.
AECO natural gas prices for 2012 decreased by 38% to $2.18 per GJ from $3.49 per GJ in 2011. The
strong incremental production from shale gas plays in the US has suppressed the upside to natural gas
price recovery.
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Results of Operations
Net petroleum and natural gas production, pricing and revenue
2012
Daily production volumes
Natural gas (mcf/d)
Oil (bbl/d)
NGL's (bbl/d)
Royalty income
Natural gas (mcf/d)
Oil (bbl/d)
NGL's (bbl/d)
Combined (boe/d 6:1)

2011

5,586
350
341

3,874
361
145

1,273
3
77
1,914

202
5
14
1,205

Product pricing (includes royalty income & realized gains/losses on commodity contracts)
Oil ($/bbl)
$
84.09 $
NGL ($/bbl)
46.78
Gas ($/mcf)
2.49
Combined ($/boe)
$
34.63 $
Revenue
Petroleum & natural gas sales - Gross
Royalty income
Commodity contract settlement
Total sales
Royalty expense
Petroleum & natural gas sales - Net
Change in fair value of contracts
Total Revenue

$ 21,327,157
2,024,819
907,863
24,259,839
(1,057,597)
$ 23,202,242
$ 3,889,986
$ 27,092,228

92.79
58.60
3.92
48.55

$ 20,742,259
613,139
1,269,687
22,625,085
(972,706)
$ 21,652,379
$ (1,491,875)
$ 20,160,504

Total sales increased by 7% in 2012 to $24.3 million from $22.6 million in 2011, the increase is
attributable to:
•
•

a 29% decrease in average product prices; and
a 59 % increase in production (on a boe basis).

The increased production in 2012 can be attributed to additional wells that were brought on production
during 2012. The Company drilled or participated in 8 gross (5.0 net) horizontal wells during 2012.
The overall average price earned by the Company was lower when compared to 2011 due lower natural
gas reference pricing and lower liquids prices caused by a widening in the Edmonton par differential to
WTI and a lower proportion of higher value condensate included in the total NGL product mix.
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As a means of managing commodity price volatility and its impact on cash flows, Yangarra enters into
various financial commodity agreements. Unsettled derivative financial contracts are measured at the date
of the financial statements based on the fair value of the contracts. Changes in fair value result from
volatility in forward curves of commodity prices and changes in the balance of unsettled contracts
between periods. The changes in fair value are recognized in revenue as unrealized commodity contract
gains and losses. Realized commodity contract gains and losses are recognized in revenue when
derivative financial contracts are settled.
At December 31, 2012, Yangarra has contracted 700 bbl/day of expected 2013 oil production using WTI
fixed price contracts at an average price of $98.99 per bbl and 300 bbl/day of expected 2014 oil
production using WTI fixed price contracts at an average price of $99.78 per bbl. In addition, Yangarra
has contracted approximately 3,500 GJ/day of expected 2013 natural gas production using AECO fixed
price contracts at an average price of $3.46 per GJ. The Company’s commodity risk program helps
sustain Cash Flow during periods of lower prices. For additional information, see the Financial
Instruments and Financial Risks Management section of this MD&A.
Royalty Income
2012
Royalty Income

$

2011

2,024,819

$

613,139

Royalty income increased in 2012 to $2,024,819. The majority of royalty income is a result of the 15%
sliding scale royalty purchased in the Willesden Green area in March 2010. At the end of 2012, there a
total of 12 wells generating the 15% royalty income.
Royalty Expense
2012
Royalty Expense
Per boe
As a % of sales

$
$

2011

1,057,597 $
1.51 $
5%

972,706
2.21
5%

Royalties increased to $1,057,597 for the year ended 2012 or 5% as a percentage of sales. The increase
results from higher production during 2012 and older wells transitioning from the 5% horizontal well
royalty framework to a full royalty burden. Generally, royalty rates in Western Canada are sensitive to
prevailing commodity prices, individual well depth and production rates. The crown royalty rate on the
new horizontal wells in Central Alberta is 5% for the earlier of 2 years or 60,000 boe of production. Deep
natural gas wells have a royalty rate of 5% for the first 5 years of production.
Production and Transportation Costs
2012

2011

Production costs
Per boe

$
$

4,771,074
6.81

$
$

3,248,011
7.38

Transportation costs
Per boe

$
$

585,176
0.84

$
$

348,431
0.79

Combined ($/boe)

$

7.65

$

8.17
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Production and transportation costs increased in 2012 to $4,771,074 on a dollar basis and decreased by
6% on a per boe basis when compared to 2011. As production volumes have increased the Company has
implemented improvements to operating practices by hiring more experienced personal and streamlining
operations across the Central Alberta area. Fixed costs have remained flat as the Company is realizing the
benefits of the field office that was put in place in 2011 and more efficient use of the Company operated
crew trucks.
Depletion, depreciation and impairment and accretion
2012

2011

Depletion and depreciation
Per boe

$ 14,477,976
$
20.67

$
$

8,304,505
18.88

Impairment
Accretion

$
$

$
$

107,281

4,035,426
92,611

Depletion, depreciation and impairment increased in 2012 compared to 2011 due to increased production
in 2012 and the $ 4,035,426 impairment relating to the Jaslan and Medicine Hat cash generating units.
On a per boe basis, the DD&A rate per boe increased in 2012 as the reserve base increased at a slower
pace than the 2012 capital additions.
General and administrative expenses (“G&A”)
2012
Gross G&A expenses
G&A recoveries
Net G&A expenses
Per boe

$
$
$

2011

2,484,072 $ 2,552,677
(717,536)
(1,178,506)
1,766,536 $ 1,374,171
2.52 $
3.12

On a net basis, general and administrative expenses increased by 29% in 2012 due lower overhead
recoveries as the Company had less partner wells. Yangarra established the majority of the corporate
team during 2011 and has seen production growth without any major changes to the number of people;
therefore, on a per boe basis, G&A decreased by 26%.
Other expenses
2012
Interest and financing fees
Dividends on preferred shares
Stock-based compensation

$
$
$

1,491,050
499,724

2011
$
$
$

213,866
8,960
1,682,583

Interest and financing fees for 2012 is for interest on the revolving operating demand loan for which the
average amount drawn in 2012 was $36 million compared to $15 million in 2011.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted a total of 3,155,000 stock options which
vested immediately. The total fair value of the options was estimated at $727,900 of which $228,176 was
capitalized.
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Deferred Taxes
2012
Deferred income tax expense

$

2011

238,886

$

3,486,999

The Company’s effective tax rate for 2012 was 25%, however, Yangarra did not pay income taxes in
2012 and does not expect to pay income taxes in 2012 as is has sufficient tax pools to cover taxable
income.
The Company has the following estimated tax pools as at December 31:

2012
Canadian exploration expenses
Canadian development expenses
Canadian oil and gas property expenses
Undepreciated capital costs
Non-capital losses (various expiry dates)
Share issuance costs

2011

$ 12,488,867
52,019,745
10,392,075
18,897,904
1,388,618
1,907,526
$ 97,094,735

$

7,995,628
54,255,805
10,282,395
21,672,917
375,794
2,686,066
$ 97,268,605

Commodity price risk contracts
Year Ended
December 31,
2012
2011
Realized gain on contract settlement
Change in fair value of commodity contracts

$
$

907,863
3,889,986
4,797,849

$

1,269,687
(1,491,875)
$
(222,188)

As at December 31, 2012, the Company was committed to the following commodity price risk contracts
for the sale of oil:
2013 Contracts:
 200 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.00 CAD/bbl;
 100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $97.50 CAD/bbl;
 200 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.30 USD/bbl;
 100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.00 USD/bbl;
 100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $104.80 CAD/bbl and;
 Sold calls on 200 bbl/d d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at $110 USD/bbl.
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2014 Contracts:





100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $98.30 CAD/bbl;
100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $100.00 CAD/bbl;
100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $101.05 CAD/bbl; and
Sold Swaption on 200 bbl/d @ $100.00 WTI/USD for January – December 2014.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company was committed to the following commodity price risk contracts
on the AECO basis:




2,000 GJ/d at $3.51/GJ for January – December 2013;
1,000 GJ/d at $3.35/GJ for January – December 2013; and
500 GJ/d at $3.42/GJ for January – December 2013.

The fair value on the contracts was in a gain position of $2,398,111 as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – a
loss position of $1,491,875).
The following table summarizes the sensitivity of the fair value of the Company’s commodity price
contracts as at December 31, 2012 to fluctuations in commodity prices, with all other variables held
constant. When assessing the potential impact of these commodity price changes, the Company believes
10 percent volatility is a reasonable measure. Fluctuations in commodity prices potentially could have
resulted in unrealized gains (losses) impacting income before tax as follows:
Sensitivities

Impact on Income Before Tax
Increase 10%

Crude oil
Natural Gas

Decrease 10%

(3,439,213)

3,439,213

(383,250)

383,250

Company Netbacks ($/boe)
2012
Sales Price
Royalty income
Royalty expense
Production costs
Transportation costs
Operating netback

$

G&A and other (excludes non-cash items)
Finance expenses
Cash flow netback
Depletion and depreciation
Impairment
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Accretion
Stock-based compensation
Unrealized gain (loss) on financial instruments
Deferred income tax
Net Income (loss) netback

12

2011

$

31.74 $
2.89
(1.51)
(6.81)
(0.84)
25.48 $

50.03
1.39
(2.21)
(7.38)
(0.79)
41.05

$

(2.52)
(2.13)
20.82
(20.67)
(5.76)
0.93
(0.13)
(0.71)
5.55
(0.34)
(0.31) $

(3.12)
(0.51)
37.42
(18.88)
(0.24)
(3.83)
(3.39)
(7.93)
3.15
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Netbacks decreased by 38% when compared to the year ended 2011. The improvements in operating
costs and royalty expenses were offset by a 37% decrease in realized pricing due to lower reference
pricing and a widening in the WTI to Edmonton par differential.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes the change in working capital during the year ended December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011:
2012
Working capital (deficit) - beginning of year

(1)

$

Cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Sale of property and equipment

Issuance of shares
Bank Debt
Working capital (deficit) - end of year

(1)

$

Credit facility limit

$

2011

(34,028,162) $

(11,472,461)

14,588,405
(24,448,531)
4,650,000
2,552,333
384,113

16,341,180
(64,608,688)
25,711,807
-

(36,301,842) $

(34,028,162)

42,000,000

$

40,000,000

(1) Excludes non-cash change in fair value of commodity contracts

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a working capital deficit of $36 million (excluding fair value
on commodity contracts) which is higher than the working capital deficit of $34 million at December 31,
2012 due to the resumption of the drilling program.
As at December 31, 2012, the $32,138,763 (2011 – $26,245,533) reported amount of bank debt was
comprised of $21,950,000 (2011 – $24,450,000) drawn on the revolving operating demand loan,
$9,992,093 (December 31, 2011 – $nil) of guaranteed notes and $196,658 (2011 – $1,795,533) of bank
overdraft. The Company is subject to a financial covenant with respect to working capital, which the
Company was in compliance with at December 31, 2012.
The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge on the assets of the Company and is secured by a
general security agreement.
As at December 31, 2012, the maximum amount available under the revolving operating demand loan
was $42,000,000 (December 31, 2011 – $40,000,000) at an interest rate of bank prime plus 1.5% per
annum on the operating demand load, payable monthly, and a credit spread of 2.5% on the guaranteed
notes.
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Capital Spending
Capital spending is summarized as follows:
2012
Land and lease rentals
Drilling and completion
Geological and geophysical
Equipment
Other Asset Additions
Gross Capital Additions
Disposition of Property and Equipment
Net Capital Additions

2011

$

734,910 $ 3,782,231
19,727,708
49,808,464
1,002,064
947,870
2,812,328
9,487,625
171,521
$ 24,448,531 $ 64,026,190
(4,650,000)
$ 19,798,531 $ 64,026,190

The Company drilled 8 gross (5.0 net) horizontal wells during 2012. The drilling resulted in significant
increases in production. The Company completed the sale of a non-core property for $4.7 million in
December 2012; the disposition included a well that was drilled in early 2012.
In 2012, the average drill cost per well was $2.0 million and the average completion cost per well was
$1.4 million mainly as a result of drilling deeper wells with more complicated fracture programs. As a
result of reduced costs and improved drilling and fracturing efficiencies the Company experienced
significant costs saving in the wells drilled later in 2012. The Company is now forecasting a per well
drill and complete cost of $2.3 million in Willesden Green and $3.1 million in Ferrier for 2013.

Outlook
The $25 million 2013 capital budget will focus on development of Yangarra’s Cardium light oil play with
a 4 year inventory indentified. The budget is expected to increase the Company’s annual production by
25% to 2,400 boe/d with cash flow from operations estimated at $24 million ($0.20/share) and 2013 debt
to cash flow ratio of 1.5. The budget assumes an average price of US$85/bbl of WTI crude oil and an
average price of $3.00/mcf of AECO natural gas

Decommissioning Liabilities
As at December 31, 2012, the undiscounted decommissioning obligation associated with the Company’s
existing properties was estimated to be $6,905,036 for which $5,297,166 has been recorded using a
discount rate of 1.51% - 3.35%, an inflation rate of 2% and an estimated weighted average timing of cash
flows of 8.7 years.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
There were no off balance sheet arrangements, other than the office and truck lease commitment which is
accounted for as an operating lease.

Related Party Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company was charged or invoiced the following
amounts by certain of its officers and directors and by companies controlled by certain of the Company's
officers and directors:
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2012
Administration and consulting fees
Production and capital expenditures

$
$

2011

194,960
137,846
332,806

$
$

237,694
339,896
577,590

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2011 is $11,221 (2011 – $29,668)
relating to the above transactions. These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the
related parties.
Other long-term liabilities includes a mortgage for $361,411 (December 31, 2011 - $410,000) held in the
name of an officer of the Company. The property against which the mortgage is secured is owned by the
Company through a trust agreement and is used as a field office. All mortgage payments are made by the
Company.

Share Capital
Details of changes in the number of outstanding equity instruments are detailed in the following table:

Common
Shares
116,607,057

Balance - December 31, 2011
Grant of options
Forfeiture of options
Expiry of options
Exercise of warrants
Expiry of warrants

5,104,666
-

Balance - December 31, 2012

121,711,723

Forfeiture of options

-

Balance - Date of MD&A

121,711,723

Warrants
8,955,500

Stock
Options
11,353,800

(5,104,666)
(2,430,834)

3,155,000
(2,500,800)
(168,000)
-

1,420,000

11,840,000

1,420,000

(305,000)
11,535,000

Contingency
In December 2009, the Company terminated the Standstill Agreement that it had with an industry partner
regarding a joint producing property and served that industry partner with a Statement of Claim issued
from The Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, by which the Company claims breach of the agreements
between the parties, gross negligence and default of operator. The Company seeks judgment for specified
and such further damages to be determined by the Court, as well as appointment as operator. The
Company increased the statement of claim based on the information provided by the defendant. The
potential outcome of the lawsuit and claims are undetermined, however, they may be material.
In the normal conduct of operations, there are other pending claims by and against the Company.
Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable with
assurance. In the opinion of management, based on the advice and information provided by its legal
counsel, the final determination of these other litigations will not materially affect the Company’s
financial position or results of operations
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Commitments
The Company had until December 31, 2012 to incur $10,000,000 of qualifying flow-through expenditures
related to flow-through shares issued in June 2011. The flow-through commitment was fully spent in
2011 and during first quarter of 2012.
The Company has entered into lease agreements for office premises, field equipment and Company
vehicles with estimated minimum annual payments as follows:

2013
2014
2015

$
$
$

244,745
241,277
241,277

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
The Company’s financial instruments include accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, bank debt, other long term liability, commodity contracts and preferred shares. The carrying
values of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank debt approximate their
fair values due to their relatively short periods to maturity.
The Company is required to classify fair value measurements using a hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
• Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
The fair value commodity contracts are classified as level 2.
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market
conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and
market risk as a result of its use of financial instruments. This note presents information about the
Company’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing these risks. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these
financial statements. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The Board has implemented and monitors
compliance with the risk management policies as set out herein:
a.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. A substantial portion of the Company’s
accounts receivable are with natural gas and liquids marketers and joint venture partners in the oil
and gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks.
Purchasers of the Company’s natural gas and liquids are subject to credit review to minimize the
risk of non-payment. As at December 31, 2012, the maximum credit exposure is the carrying
amount of the accounts receivable of $8,398,042 (2011 – $16,109,194).
The maximum exposure to credit risk for receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:
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Oil and natural gas marketers
Joint venture partners
Other

$

2,367,306
4,873,316
1,157,420

$

8,398,042

Receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers are typically collected on the 25th day of the
month following production. The Company’s policy to mitigate credit risk associated with these
balances is to establish marketing relationships with large purchasers. The Company historically
has not experienced any significant collection issues with its petroleum and natural gas marketers.
To mitigate the risk associated with of dealing with a smaller marketer the Company has entered
into an arrangement with Computershare to allow them to retain ownership of the product. All of
the revenue accruals and receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers were received in
January and February 2013.
Joint venture receivables are typically collected within one to three months of the joint venture bill
being issued to the partner. The Company mitigates the risk from joint venture receivables by
obtaining partner approval of capital expenditures prior to starting a project. However, the
receivables are from participants in the petroleum and natural gas sector, and collection is
dependent on typical industry factors such as commodity price fluctuations, escalating costs and the
risk of unsuccessful drilling. Further risk exists with joint venture partners as disagreements
occasionally arise which increases the potential for non-collection. For properties that are operated
by the Company, production can be withheld from joint venture partners who are in default of
amounts owing. In addition, the Company often has offsetting amounts payable to joint venture
partners from which it can net receivable balances.
The Company did not provide for any doubtful accounts nor was it required to write-off any
receivables during the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company would only choose to writeoff a receivable balance after all reasonable avenues of collection had been exhausted.
As at December 31, 2012, the Company considers its receivables to be aged as follows:
Not past due
Past due by less than 90 days
Past due by more than 90 days

b.

$

5,194,920
1,805,871
1,397,251

$

8,398,042

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will incur difficulties meeting its financial obligations as
they are due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking harm to the Company’s reputation.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and
updated as considered necessary. The Company uses authorizations for expenditures on both
operated and non-operated projects to further manage capital expenditures.
To facilitate the capital expenditure program, the Company has a credit facility agreement, as
disclosed in note 5 of the consolidated financial statements, which is regularly reviewed by the
lender. The Company monitors its total debt position monthly. The Company also attempts to
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match its payment cycle with collection of petroleum and natural gas revenues on the 25th of each
month. The Company anticipates it will have adequate liquidity to fund its financial liabilities
through its future cash flows. The Company’s financial liabilities are comprised of accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and bank debt, which have expected maturities of less than one year
resulting in their current classification on the statement of financial position.
c.

Market risk
Market risk consists of interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits,
while maximizing returns. The Company may use both financial derivatives and physical delivery
sales contracts to manage market risks. All such transactions are conducted in accordance with a
risk management policy as set out herein:
i.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its bank debt which
bears interest at a floating rate. For the year ended December 31, 2012, if interest rates had
been 1% lower with all other variables held constant, earnings for the period would have been
$287,000 (2011 - $260,000) higher, due to lower interest expense. An equal and opposite
impact would have occurred had interest rates been higher by the same amount. The
Company had no interest rate swap or financial contracts in place at December 31, 2012.

ii.

Currency risk
Foreign currency exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will
fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. All of the Company’s petroleum
and natural gas sales are denominated in Canadian dollars, however, the underlying market
prices in Canada for petroleum and natural gas are impacted by changes in the exchange rate
between the Canadian and United States dollar. The Company had no outstanding forward
exchange rate contracts in place at December 31, 2012.

iii.

Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a
result of changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices for petroleum and natural gas are
impacted by world economic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand as well as the
relationship between the Canadian and United States dollar, as outlined above. The
Company’s commodity contracts are discussed in the “commodity price risk contract” section
of the MD&A.

Capital disclosures
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain a flexible capital structure which will
allow it to execute its capital expenditure program, which includes expenditures in oil and gas activities
which may or may not be successful. Therefore, the Company monitors the level of risk incurred in its
capital expenditures to balance the proportion of debt and equity in its capital structure.
The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders equity and debt:
December 31,
December 31,
2012
2011
$ 79,689,765 $ 76,627,244

Shareholders’ equity
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The Company monitors capital based on annual cash from operations before changes in non-cash working
capital and capital expenditure budgets, which are updated as necessary and are reviewed and periodically
approved by the Board of Directors.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments by continually monitoring its business
conditions including the current economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the Company’s petroleum
and natural gas assets, the depth of its investment opportunities, current and forecasted net debt levels,
current and forecasted commodity prices and other facts that influence commodity prices and funds from
operations such as quality and basis differentials, royalties, operating costs and transportation costs.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company considers its forecasted cash from
operations before changes in non-cash working capital while attempting to finance an acceptable capital
expenditure program including acquisition opportunities, the current level of bank credit available from
the Company’s lender, the level of bank credit that may be attainable from its lender as a result of
petroleum and natural gas reserve growth, the availability of other sources of debt with different
characteristics than existing debt, the sale of assets, limiting the size of the capital expenditure program
and the issue of new equity if available on favorable terms. At December 31, 2012, the Company’s
capital structure was not subject to external restrictions. No changes have been made to the capital policy
since 2011

Selected Historical Financial Information

Petroleum and natural gas sales
Net petroleum and natural gas revenue
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share – basic
Net income (loss) per share – diluted
Funds flow from operations
Funds flow from operations per share – basic
Funds flow from operations per share –diluted
Net capital expenditures

Petroleum and natural gas sales
Net petroleum and natural gas revenue
Net loss
Net loss per share – basic
Net loss per share – diluted
Funds flow from operations
Funds flow from operations per share – basic
Funds flow from operations per share –diluted
Net capital expenditures
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2012
Q4($)

2012
Q3($)

2012
Q2($)

2012
Q1($)

4,842,343
5,055,666
340,623
0.00
0.00
3,168,328
0.03
0.03
4,537,364

4,311,738
4,311,406
(2,073,174)
(0.02)
(0.02)
2,780,520
0.02
0.02
4,679,623

5,265,664
5,627,535
3,305,628
0.03
0.03
3,493,003
0.03
0.03
3,006,024

6,907,412
7,299,772
(1,790,789)
(0.02)
(0.02)
5,146,554
0.04
0.04
7,575,520

2011
Q4($)

2011
Q3($)

7,555,427
7,327,783
(2,155,583)
(0.02)
(0.02)
5,686,411
0.05
0.05
19,735,557

5,378,932
5,306,646
4,106,091
0.04
0.03
4,967,853
0.04
0.04
19,005,315

2011
Q2($)
4,283,356
4,262,657
1,665,821
0.02
0.01
3,151,665
0.03
0.03
7,160,655

2010
Q1($)
3,524,544
2,844,144
(2,230,631)
(0.03)
(0.02)
2,535,251
0.03
0.03
18,124,663
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Fluctuations in quarterly revenues net income and funds flow from operations over the last eight quarters are
due primarily to the volatility in commodity prices and changes in sales volumes due to production growth
through successful drilling activity.

Fourth Quarter Activities
Fourth quarter 2012 production of 1,700 boe/d was relatively consistent to the 1,720 boe/d in the
comparable period in 2011 however even with the consistent production petroleum and natural gas sales and
cash from operations decreased by 32% and 44% respectively when compared to 2011. The decrease is
mainly due to realized prices which fell by 28% and liquids which made up 45% of the production in the
fourth quarter of 2012 versus 50% in the comparable period in 2011. Production in the month of December
2012 averaged 2,250 boe/d (50% oil and NGL’s).
Capital expenditures were $4.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to $19.7 million in the same
period in 2011. The reduced capital is due to general reductions in costs and reduced drilling because of
low natural gas pricing and infrastructure constraints.

Business Risks and Uncertainties
The Company is exposed to several operational risks inherent in exploring, developing, producing and
marketing crude oil and natural gas. These inherent risks include: economic risk of finding and producing
reserves at a reasonable cost; financial risk of marketing reserves at an acceptable price given current market
conditions; cost of capital risk associated with securing the needed capital to carry out the Company’s
operations; risk of environment impact; and credit risk of non-payment for sales contracts and joint venture
partners.
The Company attempts to control operating risks by maintaining a disciplined approach to implementation
of its exploration and development programs. Exploration risks are managed by hiring experienced
technical professionals and by concentrating the exploration activity on specific core regions that have
multi-zone potential where the Company has experience and expertise. The Company also generates
internal prospects and participates in projects where ownership interest is considered sufficient to minimize
risk. Operational control allows the Company to manage costs, timing and sales of production and to ensure
new production is brought on-stream in a timely manner. The Company maintains a comprehensive
insurance program to reduce risk to an acceptable level and to protect it against significant losses.

Environmental Risks
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to
environmental regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations.
Compliance with such legislation can require significant expenditures and a breach could result in the
imposition of fines and penalties, some of which could be material. Senior management continually assesses
new and existing regulatory requirements and environmental risks and determines the impact these risks
might have on the Company, as well as the appropriate actions necessary to manage those risks. These
assessments and the resulting policy decisions are discussed quarterly with the Board of Directors which
evaluates the performance and effectiveness of the Company’s environmental policies and programs.
The Company’s environmental responsibilities includes removing property, plant and equipment as well as
reclaiming land and property to its original state, subsequent to the completion of oil and natural gas
extraction activities. This requirement results in an asset retirement obligation that provides current
recognition of estimated expenditures that will be incurred in the future. The Company’s decommissioning
liabilities are discussed in further detail under “Critical Accounting Estimates” below, as well as in note 6 to
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s certifying officers will file a Venture Issuer Basic Certificate with respect to the
information contained in its financial statements and respective accompanying Management’s Discussion
and Analysis. The Venture Issuer Basic Certification includes a ‘Notice to Reader’ stating that the
certifying officers do not make any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, as defined in National
Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and presentation of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosures of contingencies and commitments. Such estimates
primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events at the statement of financial position date which are
based on information available to management at each financial statement date. Actual results could differ
from those estimated. Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
CGU Determination
The Company’s assets are aggregated into cash-generating-units (CGUs) based on their ability to generate
largely independent cash flows and are used for impairment testing. CGUs are determined by similar
geological structure, shared infrastructure and geographical proximity.
Impairment indicator assessment
The Company assesses its P&E and E&E assets for possible impairment if there are events or changes in
circumstances that indicate the carrying values of the assets may not be recoverable. Such indicators
include changes in the Company’s business plans, changes in commodity prices, evidence of physical
damage and significant downward revisions to estimated recoverable volumes or increases in estimated
future development expenditures.
Contingencies
By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more of the future events occur or fail to
occur. The assessment of contingencies inherently involves the estimates of the outcome of future events.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Reserves
Reserves are used in the unit of production calculation for depletion and depreciation as well as
impairment analysis. The quantity of reserves is subject to a number of estimates and projections
including assessment of engineering data, projected future rates of production, commodity prices,
regulatory changes, operating costs and sustaining capital expenditures. These estimates and projections
are uncertain as the Company does not have a long commercial production history to assist in the
development of these forward-looking estimates. However, all reserve and associated financial
information is evaluated and reported on by a firm of qualified independent reserve evaluators in
accordance with the standards prescribed by applicable securities regulators. The calculation of future
cash flows based on these reserves is dependent on a number of estimates including: production volumes,
facility performance, commodity prices, and royalties, operating costs, sustaining capital and tax rates.
The price used in the Company’s assessment of future cash flows is based on the Company’s independent
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evaluator’s estimate of future prices and evaluated for reasonability by the Company against other
available information. The Company believes these prices are reasonable estimates for a long-term
outlook.
Decommissioning liabilities
The Company measures decommissioning liabilities at each financial statement date. The estimate is
based on the Company’s share of costs to reclaim the assets and certain facilities. To determine the future
value of the liability, estimates of the amount, timing and inflation of the associated abandonment costs
are made. The present value of the cost is recorded as the decommissioning liability using a risk-free
discount rate. Due to the long-term nature of current and future project developments, abandonment costs
will be incurred many years in the future. As a result of these factors, different estimates could be used for
such abandonment costs and the associated timing. Assumptions of higher future abandonment costs,
regulatory changes, higher inflation, lower risk-free rates or an assumption of earlier or specified timing
of abandonment would cause the decommissioning liability of the corresponding asset to increase. These
changes would also cause future accretion expenses to increase and future income to decrease.
Impairment Estimate
The assessment for impairment for P&E and E&E assets involves comparing the carrying value of the
CGU with the higher of value in use calculations and fair value less costs to sell. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired involves management estimates on highly uncertain matters
such as future commodity prices, the effects of inflation on operating expenses, discount rates, production
profiles and the outlook for regional supply-and-demand conditions for crude oil, natural gas and liquids.
Impairment is recognized in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in the period
in which carrying amount exceeded the recoverable amount.
Deferred taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount and the tax basis of assets and
liabilities. An estimate is required for both the timing and corresponding tax rate for this reversal. Should
these estimates change, it may impact the measurement of the Company’s assets or liabilities as well as
deferred tax recovery or expense recognized to earnings. Where unfavorable evidence exists, additional
considerations and evidence for recognition of deferred tax assets is required. The Company has applied
management’s judgment and evaluated applicable factors necessary in making this determination and has
concluded that the positive evidence in consideration of the estimated future cash flows based on reserve
reports from the Company’s independent engineers, does not sufficiently outweigh negative factors. The
Company only recognizes deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses to the extent that the
Company has sufficient taxable temporary differences or it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilized.
Contingencies
When recognized, management makes its best estimate with respect to future cash outflows.
Other areas of estimates
The recognition of amounts in relation to stock-based compensation requires estimates related to
valuation of stock options at the time of issuance including share price, risk free rate, volatility, expected
life and dividend yield. The fair value of commodity contracts is calculated using valuation models that
require estimates as to future market prices expected interest rates and expected volatility in these
variables. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the effect of
changes in such estimates on the financial statements for current and future periods could be significant..
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Accounting standards issued but not yet applied
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued
by the IASB or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning after January 1, 2013 or later periods. The standards impacted that are
applicable to the Company are as follows:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ was issued in November 2009 as the first step in its project to replace
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for
classifying and measuring financial assets that must be applied starting January 1, 2015, with early
adoption permitted. The IASB intends to expand IFRS 9 during the intervening period to add new
requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities, de-recognition of financial instruments,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ was issued in May 2011 and will supersede the
consolidation requirements in SIC-12 ‘Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities’ and IAS 27
‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013, with early application permitted. IFRS 10 builds on existing principles by identifying the
concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within the
consolidated financial statements of the parent company. The standard also provides additional guidance
to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of this standard
IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ was issued in May 2011 and will supersede existing IAS 31, ‘Joint
Ventures’ effective for annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application
permitted. IFRS 11 provides for the accounting of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and
obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as is currently the case). The standard also
eliminates the option to account for jointly controlled entities using the proportionate consolidation
method. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ was issued in May 2011 and is a new and
comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ was issued in May 2011 and sets out in a single IFRS a framework
for measuring fair value. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
This definition of fair value emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entityspecific measurement. In addition, IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures about fair value
measurement. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier
application permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ – The IASB issued amendments to IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to coincide with the changes made in IFRS 10 and IFRS 11.
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Management's Responsibility
To the Shareholders of Yangarra Resources Ltd.:
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and
ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes
selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.
In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs
and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide
reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.
The Board of Directors exercises its responsibilities for financial controls through an Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting
responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The Committee has the
responsibility of meeting with management and external auditors to discuss the internal controls over the financial
reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The Committee is also responsible for
recommending the appointment of the Company's external auditors.
KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, is appointed by the shareholders to audit the
financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free
access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Audit Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

March 27, 2013

"James G. Evaskevich" (signed)

“James A. Glessing” (signed)

James G. Evaskevich
Chief Executive Officer

James A. Glessing
Chief Financial Officer

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Yangarra Resources Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Yangarra Resources Ltd., which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, the consolidated statement of
income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Yangarra Resources Ltd. as at December 31, 2012, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Other Matters
The consolidated financial statements of Yangarra Resources Ltd. as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011
were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements
on April 4, 2012.

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at:

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2012
Assets
Current
Accounts receivable (note 14)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Assets held for sale (note 3)
Commodity contract (note 14c iii)

$

Total current assets
Non-current
Property and equipment (note 3)
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 4)
Commodity contract (note 14c iii)

8,398,042
1,766,655
463,100
2,059,853

$

16,109,194
1,318,702
463,100
–

12,687,650

17,890,996

121,842,378
4,025,828
338,258

119,374,219
4,025,828
–

Total assets

$

138,894,114

$

141,291,043

Liabilities
Current
Bank debt (note 5)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Commodity contract (note 14c iii)

$

32,138,763
14,790,876
–

$

26,245,533
25,673,625
1,491,875

Total current liabilities
Non-current
Other long-term liabilities
Decommissioning liability (note 6)
Flow-through share premium liability
Deferred tax liability

46,929,639

53,411,033

794,114
5,297,166
–
6,183,430

410,000
4,898,222
1,500,000
4,444,544

Total liabilities

59,204,349

64,663,799

94,717,629
241,826
9,593,670
(24,863,360)

90,895,319
2,116,564
8,261,009
(24,645,648)

79,689,765

76,627,244

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital (note 7)
Warrants (note 9)
Contributed surplus
Deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

138,894,114

Contingency (note 16), Commitments (note 17)
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors
"James G. Evaskevich" (signed)
James G. Evaskevich

"Gordon A. Bowerman" (signed)
Gordon A. Bowerman

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

$

141,291,043

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the year ended December 31:

2011

2012
Revenue
Petroleum and natural gas sales
Royalty income
Royalty expense

$

Commodity price risk contracts (note 14c iii)
Commodity contract settlement
Change in fair value of commodity contracts

21,327,157
2,024,819
(1,057,597)

$ 20,742,259
613,139
(972,706)

22,294,379

20,382,692

907,863
3,889,986

1,269,687
(1,491,875)

27,092,228

20,160,504

4,771,074
585,176
1,766,537
1,583,661
(648,520)
499,724
18,513,402

3,248,011
348,431
1,374,170
330,107
–
1,682,583
8,304,505

27,071,054

15,287,807

21,174

4,872,697

238,886

3,486,999

Expenses
Production
Transportation
General and administrative
Finance
Gain on sale of Property and Equipment
Share-based compensation (note 8)
Depletion, depreciation and impairment (note 3)

Income before tax
Deferred income tax expense (note 12)

Net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss)

$

Income (loss) per share (note 10)
Basic & Diluted

$

Weighted average number of shares (note 10)
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

(217,712)

0.00 $

120,663,095
120,663,095

$

1,385,698

0.01

105,960,324
113,781,122

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31:

2011

2012
Share Capital
Balance, beginning of year

$

Issued
Share issue costs (net of tax)
Exercise of warrants
Exercise of options

90,895,319 $
–
–
3,822,310
–

25,751,725
(1,438,625)
348,227
324,044
90,895,319

94,717,629

Balance, end of year

65,909,948

Warrants
Balance, beginning of year
Exercised
Expired

2,116,564
(1,269,977)
(604,761)

2,216,541
–
(99,977)

241,826

2,116,564

8,261,009

5,740,753

727,900

2,714,300

–

(194,044)

604,761

–

9,593,670

8,261,009

Balance, beginning of year
Net income (loss)

(24,645,648)

(26,031,346)

(217,712)

1,385,698

Balance, end of year

(24,863,360)

(24,645,648)

Balance, end of year
Contributed Surplus
Balance, beginning of year
Share-based compensation related to:
Options granted in current year
Exercised options
Expired warrants
Balance, end of year
Deficit

Total Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

$

79,689,765

$

76,627,244

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31:

2012

2011

Operating
Net income (loss) for the year

$

Add back non-cash items:
Change in fair value of commodity contracts
Share-based compensation (note 8)
Depletion, depreciation and impairment (note 3)
Accretion expense (note 6)
Deferred income tax expense (note 12)
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Abandonment expenditures

(217,712) $
(3,889,986)
499,724
18,513,402
92,611
238,886
(648,520)
–
14,588,405

Change in non-cash working capital (note 11)

2,428,026
17,016,431

Net cash from operating activities

1,385,698
1,491,875
1,682,583
8,304,505
107,281
3,486,999
–
(117,761)
16,341,180
(9,676,331)
6,664,849

Financing
Issue of equity instruments, net of costs
Redemption of preferred shares (note 7)
Bank debt advance (note 5)
Other long-term liabilities advance
Change in non-cash working capital (note 11)

2,552,332
–
5,893,230
384,114
–

25,711,807
(1,000,000)
20,686,325
410,000
–

Net cash from financing activities

8,829,676

45,808,132

Investing
Expenditures property and equipment
Sale of property and equipment
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets
Change in non-cash working capital (note 11)

(24,448,531)
4,650,000
–
(6,047,576)

(61,632,752)

Net cash used in investing activities

(25,846,107)

(52,484,659)

Change in cash and cash equivalents

–

(11,678)

Cash, beginning of the year

–

11,678

Cash, end of the year

(3,385,936)
12,534,029

$

– $

Interest paid

$

1,363,326 $

213,866

Dividends paid

$

– $

8,960

–

Supplemental cash flow information

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

1.

Basis of preparation, adoption of IFRS and statement of compliance

Yangarra Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) is a publicly traded company involved in the production, exploration
and development of resource properties in Western Canada. The address of the registered office is 1530, 715 – 5
Avenue SW, Calgary Alberta, T2P 2X6.
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Yangarra Resources Corp. (“YRC”), after the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.
Statement of compliance and authorization
These consolidated financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“ASB”)
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiary.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on March
27, 2013.
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost method, except for the
revaluation of derivative instruments.
b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash consists of bank balances.
c) Property and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets
(i)

Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs, including the costs of acquiring licenses and directly
attributable general and administrative costs, initially are capitalized as either tangible or
intangible E&E assets according to the nature of the assets acquired. The costs are accumulated
in cost centers by well, field or exploration area, pending determination of technical feasibility
and commercial viability.
The Company assesses the recoverability of the E&E assets, before and at the moment of
reclassification, to property and equipment. E&E assets are assessed for impairment if (a)
sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability and (b) facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The impairment
of E&E assets, and eventual reversal thereof, is recognized in the statement of loss.
The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is considered
to be determinable when proved or probable reserves are determined to exist. A review of each
license or field is carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proved or probable reserves
have been discovered. Upon determination of proved or probable reserves, intangible E&E assets
attributable to these reserves are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from E&E assets
to property and equipment. The costs of undeveloped land that expires is recognized in income.
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Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
c) Property and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets
(ii) Property and equipment
Property and equipment (“P&E”) is carried at cost, less accumulated depletion, depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of P&E consists of the purchase price, any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into the location and condition necessary for its
intended use, a discounted current estimate of the decommissioning costs and borrowing costs for
qualifying assets.
Oil and gas capitalized costs are depleted using the unit-of-production method. Depletion is
calculated using the ratio of production in the year to the remaining total proved and probable
reserves before royalties, taking into account future development costs prior to inflation necessary
to bring those reserves into production. These estimates are evaluated and reported on by
independent reserve engineers annually. Proven and probable reserves are estimated using
independent reserve engineer reports. There is a 50 percent estimated statistical probability that
the actual quantity of recoverable reserves will be more than the amount estimated as proven and
probable. The statistical probability for proven reserves is 90 percent.
Where an item of P&E comprises major components with different useful lives, the components
are accounted for as separate items of P&E. The expected useful lives of P&E, residual values
and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each reporting period and, if necessary, changes are
accounted for prospectively.
Changes in estimates such as quantities of proved and probable reserves that affect unit-ofproduction calculations are applied on a prospective basis.
An item of P&E is derecognized upon disposal or is impaired when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss on disposal of the asset,
determined as the difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the period incurred.
Corporate assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, which is calculated using the
declining balance method at rates of 20 percent to 30 percent per annum.
(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets
At each financial reporting date, the carrying amounts of P&E are reviewed to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If such indication exists, an estimate of the
recoverable amount of the asset is calculated.
Individual assets are grouped together for impairment assessment purposes into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the cash generating unit or CGU). The
carrying amount of P&E assets within a CGU are compared to the recoverable amount of the
CGU. Goodwill is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the
combination. E&E assets are allocated to CGUs when they are assessed for impairment if
indicators of impairment exist as well as upon their reclassification into P&E.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
c) Property and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets (continued)
(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
A CGU’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
to the Company and the risks specific to the asset. Fair value less cost to sell is derived by
estimating the discounted after-tax future net cash flows. Discounted future net cash flows are
based on forecasted commodity prices and costs over the expected economic life of the reserves
and discounted market-based rates to reflect a market participants view of the risks associated
with the assets.
Where the carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the CGU is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is charged to the
statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). A previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed or partially reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
amount. The new carrying amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depletion and depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior periods.
(iv) Decommissioning liability
The Company recognizes a decommissioning liability in the period it arose with a corresponding
increase to the carrying amount of the related asset. Measurement occurs when a legal or
constructive obligation arises. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation discounted using the pre-tax risk-free rate, updated
at each reporting date. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time (accretion) is
recognized as a finance expense whereas increases or decreases due to changes in the estimated
cost to decommission the asset are capitalized as P&E. Actual costs incurred upon settlement of
the decommissioning liability reduce the liability to the extent the provision was established. The
related decommissioning asset is depreciated or depleted on the same basis as the P&E to which
it relates.
d) Leases
Leases that transfer substantively all the benefits, risks and rewards of ownership to the Company are
recorded as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the
fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments with a corresponding
increase to obligations under finance leases. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the obligation outstanding. The finance charge is
included in the statement of comprehensive income (loss) over the lease period.
Leases that do not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership to the Company are classified as operating
leases under which leasing costs are expensed in the period incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e) Joint operations
A portion of the Company's petroleum and natural gas exploration and production activities are conducted
jointly with others, and, accordingly, these consolidated financial statements reflect only the Company's
proportionate interest in such activities.
f) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized from petroleum sales when the petroleum is delivered to the buyer and from gas
sales when the gas passes through the pipeline at the delivery point. Petroleum and natural gas royalty
income is recognized as it accrues in accordance with the terms of the overriding royalty agreements.
g) Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax expense and deferred tax expense. Current tax
expense is based on the taxable profits for the year. Income tax expense is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in
which case it is recognized in equity.
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences in the financial statement carrying
amount for assets and liabilities and the associated tax balance. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all
deductible temporary differences, unused tax credits carried forward and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that there will be taxable profits against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilized. Deferred tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that
is not a business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable difference arising in
the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the tax benefit will be realized.
Deferred taxes are measured based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates for the period in which the
temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled, and are presented as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities, when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and when the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
h) Flow-through shares
Expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploratory activities funded by flow-through
equity instruments are renounced to investors in accordance with income tax legislation. The proceeds
from issuance are allocated between the offering of shares and the sale of tax benefits. The allocation is
made based on the difference between the quoted price of the existing shares and the amount the investor
pays for the shares. A flow through share premium liability is recognized for this difference. The liability
is reversed when tax benefits are incurred and a deferred tax liability is recognized at that time. Income tax
expense is the difference between the amount of the deferred tax liability and the liability recognized on
issuance.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
i)

Share-based compensation plans
Stock options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants are accounted for using the fair
value method under which compensation expense is recorded based on the estimated fair value of the
options at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Each tranche in an award is
considered a separate award with its own vesting period and grant date fair value. Compensation cost is
either expensed or capitalized depending upon whether or not the individual to which the award relates is
directly related to the development of its oil and gas projects, over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in contributed surplus. When stock options are exercised, the cash proceeds along with the
amount previously recorded as contributed surplus are recorded as share capital. The number of awards
expected to vest is reviewed annually. The Company does not incorporate forfeitures into the BlackScholes option pricing model as all options granted vest immediately.

j) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period attributable
to equity owners of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for dilutive instruments. The Company’s potentially dilutive instruments are comprised of
stock options granted and warrants granted.
k) Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from
the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantively all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded contract are not closely related, a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and
the combined instrument is not measure at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of
separate embedded derivatives are recognized immediately in the statement of income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss).
The Company accounts for forward physical delivery contracts, which are entered into and continue to be
held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial items in accordance with its expected purchase,
sale or usage requirements, as executory contracts. As such these contracts are not considered to be
derivatives financial instruments and are not recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position.
Settlements on physical sales contracts are recognized in oil and natural gas revenues.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
k) Financial instruments (continued)
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories
depending on the purpose for which the instrument were acquired.
(i)

Fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset can be classified as fair value asset through profit or loss only if it is designated
at fair value through profit or loss or held-for-trading. Held-for-trading assets are comprised of
derivatives or assets acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term. The Company’s commodity contracts are derivatives and are recorded at fair value
with changes in fair value included in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income
(loss). The Company does not apply hedge accounting to its derivative instruments.

(ii) Held-to-maturity
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold until maturity. These
assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired, impairment losses are included in the statement of
income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).
(iii) Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. Any gains or losses on the realization of receivables are included in the
statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The financial assets that are
categorized as loans and receivables included cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
iv) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any
gains or losses in the realization of other financial liabilities are included in profit or loss. The
financial liabilities that are categorized as other financial liabilities include bank debt, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities.
Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for
impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired. Impairment losses on financial assets
carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly related to the issuance of new debt are recorded net of the associated
debt and recognized into income using the effective interest rate method over the life of the debt.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
k) Financial instruments (continued)
Discounts or transaction costs on issuance of new debt
Discounts, where proceeds received are less than the par value of the debt or transaction costs related to
the issuance of debt, are recorded as a reduction to long-term debt. These discounts would be amortized
using the effective interest method and included in finance expense.
Share capital
Common shares are classified as equity on the statement of financial position. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the issue of common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity,
net of any tax effects.
l)

Provisions
Provisions and liabilities for legal and other contingent matters are recognized in the period when it
becomes probable a future cash outflow resulting from past operations or events will occur and the amount
of the cash outflow can be reasonably estimated. The timing of recognition and measurement of the
provision requires the application of judgment to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to
change, and the carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities are reviewed regularly and adjusted
accordingly. The Company is required to both determine whether a loss is probable based on judgment and
interpretation of laws and regulations, and determine that the loss can be reasonably estimated. When a
loss is recognized, it is charged to the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The
Company continually monitors known and potential contingent matters and makes appropriate provisions
when warranted by the circumstances present.

m) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. The assets are measure at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale, P&E is no longer
amortized or depreciated.
n) Significant accounting estimates judgments and estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and presentation of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosures of contingencies and commitments. Such estimates primarily
relate to unsettled transactions and events at the statement of financial position date which are based on
information available to management at each financial statement date. Actual results could differ from
those estimated. Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
CGU Determination
The Company’s assets are aggregated into cash-generating-units (CGUs) based on their ability to generate
largely independent cash flows and are used for impairment testing. CGUs are determined by similar
geological structure, shared infrastructure and geographical proximity.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
n) Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)
Impairment indicator assessment
The Company assesses its P&E and E&E assets for possible impairment if there are events or changes in
circumstances that indicate the carrying values of the assets may not be recoverable. Such indicators
include changes in the Company’s business plans, changes in commodity prices, evidence of physical
damage and significant downward revisions to estimated recoverable volumes or increases in estimated
future development expenditures.
Contingencies
By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more of the future events occur or fail to
occur. The recognition of contingencies inherently involves the estimates of the outcome of future events.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Reserves
Reserves are used in the unit of production calculation for depletion and depreciation as well as
impairment analysis. The quantity of reserves is subject to a number of estimates and projections including
assessment of engineering data, projected future rates of production, commodity prices, regulatory
changes, operating costs and sustaining capital expenditures. These estimates and projections are uncertain
as the Company does not have a long commercial production history to assist in the development of these
forward-looking estimates. However, all reserve and associated financial information is evaluated and
reported on by a firm of qualified independent reserve evaluators in accordance with the standards
prescribed by applicable securities regulators. The calculation of future cash flows based on these reserves
is dependent on a number of estimates including: production volumes, facility performance, commodity
prices, and royalties, operating costs, sustaining capital and tax rates. The price used in the Company’s
assessment of future cash flows is based on the Company’s independent evaluator’s estimate of future
prices and evaluated for reasonability by the Company against other available information. The Company
believes these prices are reasonable estimates for a long-term outlook.
Decommissioning liabilities
The Company measures decommissioning liabilities at each financial statement date. The estimate is based
on the Company’s share of costs to reclaim the assets and certain facilities. To determine the future value
of the liability, estimates of the amount, timing and inflation of the associated abandonment costs are
made. The present value of the cost is recorded as the decommissioning liability using a risk-free discount
rate. Due to the long-term nature of current and future project developments, abandonment costs will be
incurred many years in the future. As a result of these factors, different estimates could be used for such
abandonment costs and the associated timing. Assumptions of higher future abandonment costs, regulatory
changes, higher inflation, lower risk-free rates or an assumption of earlier or specified timing of
abandonment would cause the decommissioning liability of the corresponding asset to increase. These
changes would also cause future accretion expenses to increase and future income to decrease.
Impairment Estimate
The assessment for impairment for P&E and E&E assets involves comparing the carrying value of the
CGU with the higher of value in use calculations and fair value less costs to sell. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired involves management estimates on highly uncertain matters
such as future commodity prices, the effects of inflation on operating expenses, discount rates, production
profiles and the outlook for regional supply-and-demand conditions for crude oil, natural gas and liquids.
Impairment is recognized in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in the period
in which carrying amount exceeded the recoverable amount.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
n) Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount and the tax basis of assets and
liabilities. An estimate is required for both the timing and corresponding tax rate for this reversal. Should
these estimates change, it may impact the measurement of the Company’s assets or liabilities as well as
deferred tax recovery or expense recognized to earnings. Where unfavorable evidence exists, additional
considerations and evidence for recognition of deferred tax assets is required. The Company has applied
management’s judgment and evaluated applicable factors necessary in making this determination and has
concluded that the positive evidence in consideration of the estimated future cash flows based on reserve
reports from the Company’s independent engineers, does not sufficiently outweigh negative factors. The
Company only recognizes deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses to the extent that the
Company has sufficient taxable temporary differences or it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilized.
Contingencies
When recognized, management makes its best estimate with respect to future cash outflow
Other areas of estimates
The recognition of amounts in relation to stock-based compensation requires estimates related to valuation
of stock options at the time of issuance including share price, risk free rate, volatility, expected life and
dividend yield. The fair value of commodity contracts is calculated using valuation models that require
estimates as to future market prices expected interest rates and expected volatility in these variables. By
their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the effect of changes in such
estimates on the financial statements for current and future periods could be significant.
o) Accounting standards issued but not yet applied
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued
by the IASB or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning after January 1, 2013 or later periods. The standards impacted that are
applicable to the Company are as follows:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ was issued in November 2009 as the first step in its project to replace IAS
39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for
classifying and measuring financial assets that must be applied starting January 1, 2015, with early
adoption permitted. The IASB intends to expand IFRS 9 during the intervening period to add new
requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities, de-recognition of financial instruments,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ was issued in May 2011 and will supersede the
consolidation requirements in SIC-12 ‘Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities’ and IAS 27 ‘Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements’ effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with
early application permitted. IFRS 10 builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as
the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements
of the parent company. The standard also provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of
control where this is difficult to assess. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

39

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
n) Accounting standards issued but not yet applied (continued)
IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ was issued in May 2011 and will supersede existing IAS 31, ‘Joint
Ventures’ effective for annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application
permitted. IFRS 11 provides for the accounting of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and
obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as is currently the case). The standard also
eliminates the option to account for jointly controlled entities using the proportionate consolidation
method. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ was issued in May 2011 and is a new and
comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard.
IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ was issued in May 2011 and sets out in a single IFRS a framework for
measuring fair value. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This
definition of fair value emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific
measurement. In addition, IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures about fair value measurement. IFRS
13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

3.

IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ – The IASB issued amendments to IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to coincide with the changes made in IFRS 10 and IFRS 11.
Property and equipment
Oil and
Well and
Natural Gas
plant
Other
Assets
Total
Interests
equipment

Cost or Deemed Cost
Balance at December 31, 2010
Additions
Balance at December 31, 2011
Cash Additions
Dispositions
Capitalized stock based compensation
and decommissioning liability
Balance at December 31, 2012
Depletion, depreciation and impairment
Balance at December 31, 2010
Depletion and depreciation
Balance at December 31, 2011
Depletion and depreciation
Impairment loss
Balance at December 31, 2012
Net Book Amount
At December 31, 2011
At December 31, 2012

53,617,892
53,935,149
107,553,041
21,464,682
(4,001,480)
534,510
$

$
$
$

125,550,753
5,634,445
7,256,900
12,891,345
12,506,000
4,035,426
29,432,771
94,661,696
96,117,982
40

15,704,399
9,487,625
25,192,024
2,812,328
–
–
$ 28,004,352 $
537,500
938,000
1,475,500
1,722,900
–
3,198,400
$ 23,716,524 $
$ 24,805,952 $

135,452
992,498
1,127,950
171,521
–
–

69,457,743
64,415,272
133,873,015
24,448,531
(4,001,480)
534,510

1,299,471 $ 154,854,576
22,346
109,605
131,951
249,076
–
381,027
995,999
918,444

6,194,291
8,304,505
14,498,796
14,477,976
4,035,426
33,012,198
$ 119,374,219
$ 121,842,378
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3.

Property and equipment (continued)

The depletion, depreciation and impairment of property and equipment, and any eventual reversal thereof, are
recognized in depletion and depreciation in the statement of income and comprehensive income. Future
development costs of 90,935,330 (2011 – 62,410,000) are included in the depletion calculation. At December 31,
2012 all of the Company’s properties are pledged as security for the bank loans.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company capitalized $306,333 (2011 – $1,406,896) related to the
decommissioning liability of property and equipment and $228,176 (2011 – $1,375,622) of share-based
compensation. The Company also capitalized $463,894 (2011 – $718,809) of general and administrative costs as
well as $717,536 (2011 - $755,658) of recoveries related to the Company's working interest in operated capital
expenditure programs on which overhead has been charged in accordance with standard industry operating
agreements.
In December 2012, the Company divested an asset in the Central Alberta area for net cash proceeds of $4,650,000.
As a result of the disposition Yangarra recorded a gain of $648,520 in 2012.
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, property and equipment totaling $463,100 (2011 – $463,100) was classified as
a current asset held for sale as the Company intends to recover the carrying amount principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use in the next twelve months. The current asset classified as held for
sale was measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Company recognized an impairment of $4,035,426 (December 31,
2011 - $nil) on its Jaslan and Medicine Hat cash generating unit (“CGU”) as the carrying amount exceeded fair
value less costs to sell, due to the decrease in natural gas prices. Fair value was determined using the net present
value of proved plus probable reserves discounted at 10% in the reserve report and using the following commodity
price estimates:

Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

Average Price Forecast
Alberta
WTI
AECO-C
Cushing
40○ API
Spot
$90.00
$3.20
$89.75
$3.75
$91.55
$4.05
$93.40
$4.35
$92.00
$4.65
$93.85
$5.10
$95.70
$5.40
$97.65
$5.75
$99.60
$6.10
$101.60
$6.45
Escalation rate of 2.0% thereafter

Exchange
Rate
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000

The benchmark prices listed above are adjusted for quality differentials, heat content, distance to market and other
factors in performing the ceiling test. Percentage change represents the change in each year after 2022 to the end
of the reserve life.
A 5% increase in the assumed discount rate would have resulted in an additional impairment of $878,700 for the
year ended December 31, 2012 while a 5% decrease in the forward commodity price estimate would result in an
additional impairment of approximately $465,000.
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4.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Cost or Deemed Cost
Balance at December 31, 2010
Additions

5,005,176
3,385,939

Balance at December 31, 2011
Additions

8,391,115
–

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

8,391,115

$

3,798,712
566,575

Depletion, depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2010
Amortization
Balance at December 31, 2011
Amortization

4,365,287
–

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

4,365,287

At December 31, 2011

$

4,025,828

At December 31, 2012

$

4,025,828

Net book value

Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets consist of the Company’s undeveloped land which are pending the
determination of proven or probable reserves. Additions represent the Company’s share of costs incurred on E&E
assets during the period.
5.

Bank debt

As at December 31, 2012, the $32,138,763 (2011 – $26,245,533) reported amount of bank debt with a Canadian
chartered bank was comprised of $21,950,000 (2011 – $24,450,000) drawn on the revolving operating demand
loan, $9,992,093 (December 31, 2011 – $nil) of guaranteed notes and $196,658 (2011 – $1,795,533) of bank
overdraft. The Company is subject to a financial covenant requiring a working capital ratio of 1 : 1, which the
Company was in compliance with at December 31, 2012.
The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge on the assets of the Company and is secured by a general
security agreement.
As at December 31, 2012, the maximum amount available under the revolving operating demand loan was
$42,000,000 (December 31, 2011 – $40,000,000) at an interest rate of bank prime plus 1.5% per annum on the
operating demand load, payable monthly, and a credit spread of 2.5% on the guaranteed notes. The next
scheduled review is May 31, 2013.
During the year, the weighted average effective interest rate for the bank debt was approximately 4.5% (2011 3.25 %).
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6.

Decommissioning liability

The following table presents the reconciliation of the carrying amount of the liability associated with the
decommissioning of the Company’s property and equipment:
December 31,
December 31,
2011
2012
Balance, beginning of year
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities settled
Effect of change in discount rate
Accretion
Change in assumptions

$

4,898,222
283,823
–
77,816
92,611
(55,305)

$

3,501,805
652,382
(117,761)
502,585
107,281
251,929

Balance, end of year

$

5,297,166

$

4,898,222

The following significant assumptions were used to estimate the decommissioning liability:
December 31,
2012
Undiscounted cash flows
Discount rate
Inflation rate
Weighted average expected timing of cash flows
7.

$

6,905,036
1.51% - 3.35%
2%
8.7 years

December
31,
2011
$

6,120,528
1.51% - 3.35%
2%
8.7 years

Share capital
a.

Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares, without nominal or par value
Unlimited number of preferred shares, without nominal or par value
b.

Common shares issued

Balance December 31, 2010
Transfer agent correction
Equity financing (i)
Flow-through equity financing (ii)
Exercise of stock options (iii)
Exercise of warrants (iv)
Share issue costs, net of $479,248 of deferred income tax
Balance December 31, 2011
Exercise of warrants (v)
Balance, December 31, 2012

Number of shares
79,718,127
(70)
23,632,500
12,500,000
260,000
496,500
–
116,607,057
5,104,666
121,711,723
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Amount
$ 65,909,948
–
17,251,725
8,500,000
324,044
348,227
(1,438,625)
$ 90,895,319
3,822,310
$ 94,717,629
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7.

Share capital (continued)
i)

On March 8, 2011 the Company, closed a "bought deal" financing, completed by way of a short form
prospectus, for the sale of 23,632,500 common shares of the Company at a price of $0.73 per share for
gross proceeds of $17,251,725.

ii)

On June 23, 2011 the Company, closed a "bought deal" financing, completed by way of private
placement, for the sale of 12,500,000 flow-through shares of the Company at a price of $0.80 per share
for gross proceeds of $10,000,000. $1.5 million was classified as a flow through premium liability until
the tax effect is renounced.

iii) The Company issued 260,000 common shares on the exercise of options at $0.50 per share for cash
proceeds of $130,000 plus a pro-rata allocation of the options’ fair value in the amount of $194,044.
iv) The Company issued 496,500 common shares on the exercise of warrants at $0.50 per share for cash
proceeds of $248,250 plus a pro-rata allocation of the warrants’ fair value in the amount of $99,977.
v)

8.

The Company issued 5,104,666 common shares on the exercise of warrants at $0.50 per share for cash
proceeds of $2,552,332 plus a pro-rata allocation of the warrants’ fair value in the amount of
$1,269,978.

Share-based payments
The Company has an equity settled stock option plan under which the Board of Directors may grant options
to directors, officers, other employees and key consultants. The purpose of the plan is to advance the
interests of the Company by encouraging these individuals to acquire shares in the Company and thereby
remain associated with, and seek to maximize the value of, the Company. Under the plan, the number of
shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of all options under the plan may not exceed 10% of the
issued and outstanding common shares on a non-diluted basis at any time. The options expire not more than
five years from the date of grant, or earlier if the individual ceases to be associated with the Company, and
vest over terms determined at the time of grant.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted options to purchase 3,155,000 common
shares, with the options vesting immediately. The fair value of the options was estimated at $727,900 ($0.23
per option) using the Black-Scholes pricing model.
The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding as at:
December 31, 2012
Weighted –
average
Options
exercise price
Opening
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired

11,353,800
3,155,000
–
(2,500,800)
(168,000)

$0.65
0.42
–
0.65
1.00

Closing

11,840,000

$0.59
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December 31, 2011
Weighted –
average
Options
exercise price
7,808,800
4,175,000
(260,000)
(255,000)
(115,000)
11,353,800

$0.67
0.69
0.50
0.72
1.83
$0.65
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8. Share-based payments (continued)
The following provides a summary of the stock option plan as at December 31, 2012:
Weighted-average
Range of
remaining
exercise
Number
contractual life
Weighted-average
price
outstanding
(years)
exercise price
$ 0.25 – $ 0.50
$ 0.51 – $ 0.75
$ 0.76 – $ 1.00

Number
exercisable

5,100,000
5,455,000
1,285,000

3.20
2.98
2.90

$ 0.45
0.66
0.86

5,100,000
5,455,000
1,285,000

11,840,000

3.06

$ 0.59

11,840,000

The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to estimate the fair value of options granted issued based on the
following significant assumptions:
2012
2011
Weighted average fair value per option
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life
Forfeiture rate
9.

$0.23
1.49% to 1.64%
65%
5 years
0%

$0.65
1.51% to 2.81%
163% to 164%
5 years
0%

Warrants

The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding as at:
December 31, 2012
Number of
Exercise
Fair value
warrants
price
ascribed
Opening
Exercised
Expired
Closing

December 31, 2011
Number of
Exercise
Fair value
warrants
price
ascribed

8,955,500
(5,104,666)
(2,430,834)

$0.50
(0.50)
(0.50)

$2,116,564
(1,269,977)
(604,761)

9,452,000
(496,500)
–

$0.50
(0.50)
–

$2,216,541
(99,977)
–

1,420,000

$0.50

$241,826

8,955,500

$0.50

$2,116,564

As at December 31, 2012, warrants had a weighted average remaining life of 2.00 years (2011 – 0.9 years).
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10.

Net (loss) income per common share
Basic earnings per share was calculated as follows:

Net (loss) income for the period
Weighted average number of shares (basic)

$

2012
(217,712) $

Issued common shares at beginning of period
Stock options exercised
Transfer agent correction
Warrants exercised
Effect of shares issued

116,607,057
–
–
4,056,038
–

Weighted average number of common shares - basic

120,663,095

2011
1,385,698

79,718,127
215,836
(70)
190,856
25,835,575
105,960,324

Diluted earnings per share was calculated as follows:
Weighted average number of shares (basic)
Effect of outstanding options
Effect of outstanding warrants
Weighted average number of common shares - diluted

2012
120,663,095
–
–

2011
105,960,324
1,110,721
6,710,099

120,663,095

113,781,144

The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options
was based on quoted market prices for the period that the options were outstanding. Excluded from diluted
earnings per share is the effect of 11,840,000 options (2011 – 3,543,605 options) and 1,420,000 warrants (2011 –
nil) as they are out of the money.
11.

Change in non-cash working capital

2011

2012
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

7,711,152
(447,953)
(10,882,749)

$

(3,619,550)

$ (12,356,717)
(1,075,488)
16,289,903
$

2,857,698

The changes in non-cash working capital has been allocated to the following activities:
$

Operating
Financing
Investing

$
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2,428,026 $ (9,676,331)
–
–
12,534,029
(6,047,576)
(3,619,550) $ 2,857,698
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12.

Income taxes

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the combined federal and provincial
tax rates to the income before income tax. The difference results from the following:
2011

2012
Income before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate

$

21,174
25.0%

$

4,872,697
26.5%

Expected income tax expense (reduction)
Stock-based compensation
Rate adjustments
Flow through share obligation
Other

$

5,294
124,931
–
1,000,000
(891,339)

$

1,291,265
445,884
(101,290)
1,329,613
521,527

$

238,886

$

3,486,999

The 2012 corporate tax rate decreased to 25.0% from 26.5% in 2011 due to scheduled federal tax rate adjustments.
The components of the net deferred income tax asset (liability) are:

Decommissioning liability
Non-capital and capital loss carryforwards
Share issue costs
Commodity price risk contracts
Property and equipment

Balance
December
31, 2011

Recognized
in Income

Flow Through
Share
Premium

Recognized
in Equity

Balance
December
31, 2012

1,224,556

99,736

–

–

1,324,292

–
671,516
372,969
(6,713,585)

257,639
(194,635)
(972,497)
570,871

–
–
–
(1,500,000)

–
–
–
–

257,639
476,881
(599,528)
(7,642,714)

(4,444,544)

(238,886)

(1,500,000)

–

Recognized
in Income

Flow Through
Share
Premium

Recognized
in Equity

Balance
December
31, 2010
Decommissioning liability
Non-capital and capital loss carryforwards
Share issue costs
Commodity price risk contracts
Property and equipment
Deferred tax asset not recognized

(6,183,430)
Balance
December
31, 2011

875,451

349,105

–

–

1,224,556

242,761
386,904
–
(1,449,428)
(55,688)

(242,761)
(194,635)
372,969
(3,827,365)
55,688

–
–
–
(1,436,792)
–

–
479,247
–
–
–

–
671,516
372,969
(6,713,585)

–

(3,486,999)

(1,436,792)

479,247

(4,444,544)

As at December 31, 2012, the Company has approximately $97 million of tax pools available for deduction against
future taxable income.
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13.

Related party disclosure

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Yangarra Resources Ltd. and the
subsidiary listed below:
% equity interest
Country of
Incorporation
Name
2012
2011
Yangarra Resources Corp.

Canada

100%

100%

Balances between Yangarra Resources Ltd. and its subsidiary have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Company and other related parties are disclosed below.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company was charged or invoiced the following
amounts by certain of its officers and directors and by companies controlled by certain of the Company's officers
and directors:
2012
Administration and consulting fees
Production and capital expenditures

$
$

194,960 $
137,846
332,806 $

2011
237,694
339,896
577,590

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2012 is $11,221 (December 31, 2011 –
$117,020) relating to the above transactions. These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related
parties.
Other long-term liabilities includes a mortgage for $361,411 (December 31, 2011 - $410,000) held in the name of
an officer of the Company. The property against which the mortgage is secured is owned by the Company
through a trust agreement and is used as a field office. All mortgage payments are made by the Company.
Compensation of key management personal (Directors, Officers and Vice Presidents):
2012
Compensation
Share-based payments

$
$

1,197,000 $
427,080
1,624,080 $

2011
731,250
1,385,279
2,116,529

14. Financial instruments and financial risk management
The Company’s financial instruments include accounts receivable, bank debt, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, other long term liabilities and commodity contracts. The carrying values of accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank debt approximate their fair values due to their relatively
short periods to maturity.
The Company is required to classify fair value measurements using a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
• Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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14.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The fair value of commodity contracts is measured at level 2.
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the
Company’s activities. The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk as a result of its
use of financial instruments. This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above
risks and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing these risks. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. The Board of Directors has overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The Board has
implemented and monitors compliance with the risk management policies as set out herein:
b.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations. A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with
natural gas and liquids marketers and joint venture partners in the oil and gas industry and are subject to
normal industry credit risks.
Purchasers of the Company’s natural gas and liquids are subject to credit review to minimize the risk of nonpayment. As at December 31, 2012, the maximum credit exposure is the carrying amount of the accounts
receivable of $8,398,042 (2011 – $16,109,194).
The maximum exposure to credit risk for receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:
Oil and natural gas marketers
Joint venture partners
Other

$

2,367,306
4,873,316
1,157,420

$

8,398,042

Receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers are typically collected on the 25th day of the month
following production. The Company’s policy to mitigate credit risk associated with these balances is to
establish marketing relationships with large purchasers. The Company historically has not experienced any
significant collection issues with its petroleum and natural gas marketers. To mitigate the risk associated
with of dealing with a smaller marketer the Company has entered into an arrangement with Computershare
to allow them to retain ownership of the product. All of the revenue accruals and receivables from
petroleum and natural gas marketers were received in January and February 2013.
Joint venture receivables are typically collected within one to three months of the joint venture bill being
issued to the partner. The Company mitigates the risk from joint venture receivables by obtaining partner
approval of capital expenditures prior to starting a project. However, the receivables are from participants in
the petroleum and natural gas sector, and collection is dependent on typical industry factors such as
commodity price fluctuations, escalating costs and the risk of unsuccessful drilling. Further risk exists with
joint venture partners as disagreements occasionally arise which increases the potential for non-collection.
For properties that are operated by the Company, production can be withheld from joint venture partners
who are in default of amounts owing. In addition, the Company often has offsetting amounts payable to
joint venture partners from which it can net receivable balances.

49

Yangarra Resources Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

14.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
The Company did not provide for any doubtful accounts nor was it required to write-off any accounts
receivable during the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company would only choose to write-off a
receivable balance after all reasonable avenues of collection had been exhausted.
As at December 31, 2012, the Company considers its receivables to be aged as follows:
Not past due
Past due by less than 90 days
Past due by more than 90 days

d.

$

5,194,920
1,805,871
1,397,251

$

8,398,042

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will incur difficulties meeting its financial obligations as they are
due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking harm to the Company’s reputation. The Company prepares annual
capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. The
Company uses authorizations for expenditures on both operated and non-operated projects to further manage
capital expenditures.
To facilitate the capital expenditure program, the Company has a credit facility agreement, as disclosed in
note 5, which is regularly reviewed by the lender. The Company monitors its total debt position monthly.
The Company also attempts to match its payment cycle with collection of petroleum and natural gas
revenues on the 25th of each month. The Company anticipates it will have adequate liquidity to fund its
financial liabilities through its future cash flows. The Company’s financial liabilities are comprised of
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank debt and other long-term liabilities, which have expected
maturities of less than one year resulting in their current classification on the statement of financial position.
As at December 31, 2012

Carrying
Amount

A/P and accrued liabilities

14,790,876

14,790,876

14,790,876

–

–

–

32,138,763

32,138,763

32,138,763

–

–

–

794,114

794,114

–

541,888

126,939

125,287

–

1,446,244

1,446,244

–

–

–

47,723,753

49,169,997

48,375,883

541,888

126,939

125,287

Bank Debt

(1)

Other long-term liabilities
Estimated Interest Payments

(1)

c.

Contractual
Cash Flows

Less than 1
year

1-2
Years

2-5
Years

More than
5 years

Assumes the credit facilities are not renewed May 2013

Market risk
Market risk consists of interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing
returns. The Company may use both financial derivatives and physical delivery sales contracts to manage
market risks. All such transactions are conducted in accordance with a risk management policy as set out
herein:
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14.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
iv.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest
rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its bank debt which bears interest at a
floating rate. For the year ended December 31, 2012, if interest rates had been 1% lower with all other
variables held constant, income for the period would have been $287,000 (2011 - $260,000) higher, due
to lower interest expense. An equal and opposite impact would have occurred had interest rates been
higher by the same amount. The Company had no interest rate swap or financial contracts in place at
December 31, 2012.

ii.

Currency risk
Foreign currency exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a
result of changes in foreign exchange rates. All of the Company’s petroleum and natural gas sales are
denominated in Canadian dollars, however, the underlying market prices in Canada for petroleum and
natural gas are impacted by changes in the exchange rate between the Canadian and United States
dollar. The Company had no outstanding forward exchange rate contracts in place at December 31,
2012.

iii.

Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices for petroleum and natural gas are impacted by world
economic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand as well as the relationship between the
Canadian and United States dollar, as outlined above.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company was committed to the following commodity price risk contracts for the
sale of oil:
2013 Contracts:


200 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.00 CAD/bbl;



100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $97.50 CAD/bbl;



200 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.30 USD/bbl;



100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $98.00 USD/bbl;



100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at a fixed price of $104.80 CAD/bbl and;



Sold calls on 200 bbl/d d from January 1 to December 31, 2013 at $110 USD/bbl.

2014 Contracts:


100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $98.30 CAD/bbl;



100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $100.00 CAD/bbl;



100 bbl/d from January 1 to December 31, 2014 at a fixed price of $101.05 CAD/bbl; and



Sold Swaption on 200 bbl/d @ $100.00 WTI/USD for January – December 2014.
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14. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
As at December 31, 2012, the Company was committed to the following commodity price risk contracts on the
AECO basis:
 2,000 GJ/d at $3.51/GJ for January – December 2013;
 1,000 GJ/d at $3.35/GJ for January – December 2013; and
 500 GJ/d at $3.42/GJ for January – December 2013.
The following table summarizes the fair value and the change in fair value for year ended December 31, 2012:

Commodity contract (liability) asset, beginning of year

$

2012
(1,491,875)

$

2011
-

Unrealized change in fair value

3,889,986

(1,491,875)

Commodity contract (liability) asset, end of year

2,398,111

$ (1,491,875)

The following table summarizes the sensitivity of the fair value of the Company’s derivative positions as at
December 31, 2012 to fluctuations in commodity prices, with all other variables held constant. When assessing the
potential impact of these commodity price changes, the Company believes 10 percent volatility is a reasonable
measure. Fluctuations in commodity prices potentially could have resulted in unrealized gains (losses) impacting
income before tax as follows:
Impact on Income Before Tax
Crude oil
Natural Gas
15.

Increase 10%
(3,439,213)

Decrease 10%
3,439,213

(383,250)

383,250

Capital disclosures

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain a flexible capital structure which will allow it to
execute its capital expenditure program, which includes expenditures in oil and gas activities which may or may
not be successful. Therefore, the Company monitors the level of risk incurred in its capital expenditures to balance
the proportion of debt and equity in its capital structure.
The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders equity and debt:
December 31,
December 31,
2012
2011
$ 79,689,765 $ 76,627,244

Shareholders’ equity

The Company monitors capital based on annual cash from operations before changes in non-cash working capital
and capital expenditure budgets, which are updated as necessary and are reviewed and periodically approved by
the Board of Directors.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments by continually monitoring its business
conditions including the current economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the Company’s petroleum and
natural gas assets, the depth of its investment opportunities, current and forecasted net debt levels, current and
forecasted commodity prices and other facts that influence commodity prices and funds from operations such as
quality and basis differentials, royalties, operating costs and transportation costs.
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15.

Capital disclosures (continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company considers its forecasted cash from operations
before changes in non-cash working capital while attempting to finance an acceptable capital expenditure program
including acquisition opportunities, the current level of bank credit available from the Company’s lender, the level
of bank credit that may be attainable from its lender as a result of petroleum and natural gas reserve growth, the
availability of other sources of debt with different characteristics than existing debt, the sale of assets, limiting the
size of the capital expenditure program and the issue of new equity if available on favorable terms. At December
31, 2012, the Company’s capital structure was not subject to external restrictions. No changes have been made to
the capital policy since 2011
16.

Contingency

In December 2009, the Company terminated the Standstill Agreement that it had with an industry partner regarding
a joint producing property and served that industry partner with a Statement of Claim issued from The Court of
Queen’s Bench of Alberta, by which the Company claims breach of the agreements between the parties, gross
negligence and default of operator. The Company seeks judgment for specified and such further damages to be
determined by the Court, as well as appointment as operator. The Company increased the statement of claim based
on the information provided by the defendant. The potential outcome of the lawsuit and claims are undetermined,
however, they may be material.
In the normal conduct of operations, there are other pending claims by and against the Company. Litigation is
subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable with assurance. In the
opinion of management, based on the advice and information provided by its legal counsel, the final determination
of these other litigations will not materially affect the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
17.

Commitments

The Company had until December 31, 2012 to incur $10,000,000 of qualifying flow-through expenditures related
to flow-through shares issued in June 2011. The flow-through commitment was fully spent as at December 31,
2012.
The Company has entered into lease agreements for office premises, field equipment and Company vehicles with
estimated minimum annual payments as follows:
$
$
$

2013
2014
2015
18.

244,745
241,277
241,277

Supplemental Disclosure

Yangarra’s statement of comprehensive income is prepared primarily by nature of expense, with the exception of
employee compensation cost which is included in both operating and general and administrative expenses.
The following table details the amount of total employee compensation costs included in operating and general
administration expense.
Production

$

General and Administration
Total employee compensation costs

$
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2012
230,200

$

2011
36,182

641,657

361,440

871,857

$ 397,622

